FILED

OCT 25 2016

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

SC#93750-8 73734-4

No. 15-2-0040-7SEA

## DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOSEPH LUCAS, III; U.S. BANK, N.A. AS TRUSTEE FOR OWNIT MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST, MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-3; MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS INC: AND JOHN DOE 1-50

Respondents,

v.

Jeff Bailey

Petitioner,

ci, :

PETITION FOR REVIEW

# **TABLE**

	Section	<b>Page</b>
1.	Assignments of Error	1
2.	Statement of Case	1
3.	Arguments	2
4.	Conclusion	8
5.	Appendix	8
6.	Cases and Authorities:	
	Article I, Section 10, US Constitution – Impair obligation of contracts	6

# **IDENTITY OF APPELLANT**

Jeff Bailey 10743 56<sup>th</sup> Avenue Seattle, Washington 98178 The trial court erred in terminating and failing to uphold Bailey's contract with Lucas IIII, specifically violating Article I, Section 10 of the U.S. Constitution. Bailey is assigned the duty of defending contract against any outside assails and the courts determination that subject contract was subordinate to Deed of Trust encumbrance failed to take into consideration whether the particular parties involved in this litigation were, in fact, real parties of interest and "Note Holders" as defined by the Note Contract between Lucas, III and OWNIT.

See order attached

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

- 1. Bailey entered into a Real Estate Contract with Lucas III, in which Lucas III did grant to Bailey interest in said property and the right and obligation to defend the position of the contract and possession of the property. See Sub#7-Amended Complaint at point 7 & Exhibit 1.
- Respondent Lucas III, did execute a Deed of Trust and Note in favor of OWNIT and MERS was nominated as beneficiary in the subject Deed of Trust.
- 3. Respondent Lucas III did file fail to continue payments in accordance with Note and did file Bankruptcy in 2012, though Appellant did not fail to make payments to Lucas III.
- 4. Respondent Lucas III failed to determine and challenge the relevant entities as "Note Holders" as defined by Note and therefore determine the real party in interest.

- Respondent Lucas III further failed to discern that the encumbrance that was held by
   MERS on behalf of OWNIT was extinguished according to controlling New York law. (see
- 6. The trial court granted respondents Motion to Dismiss on Friday June 12, 2015.
- 7. Appellate did file a motion for continuance prior to the hearing held on June 12, 2015.
- 8. Trial court granted respondents motion to dismiss and appellant filed motion for consideration on June XX, 2015, which the trial court stated was untimely in error.

### **ARGUMENT**

- 9. The appellate court erred when it computed the timeline as seventeen days because it counted the weekend days of Saturday and Sunday following the order that was issued on the 12<sup>th</sup> of June. Furthermore, Bailey did file his Motion on June 26<sup>th</sup> and not June 29<sup>th</sup>.
  See
- 10. The Trial court did err and violated U.S. Constitution Article I, Section 10 when it stripped Appellant of his right to enforce and defend Contract between Appellant and Defendant Lucas III by the order issued at Sub#16A-Order granting Defendant's motion to dismiss with prejudice. The trial court's dismissal, specifically, with prejudice causes irreparable harm to Appellant's right and obligation to defend Appellant's interest in subject property and Appellant's right to due process. Appellant's contract with Respondent Lucas III provided Appellant with the right and obligation to possession and an interest in said property. Respondent Trustee, by way of counsel states that Appellant

is a stranger to the mortgage loan, yet Respondent Lucas III did grant interest in subject property to Appellant and further, the U.S. Supreme Court has accepted that when a third nonparty has an interest in a matter, such as Appellant's interest in subject property, then a third nonparty's interest may arguably fall within the zone of interest to be protected. Appellant's contract with Respondent Lucas III provides Appellant with the right and obligation to defend Appellant's interest at, but not limited to, clause 34g of said contract. The trial court erred in terminating Appellant's rights and obligation of said contract and dismissing such with prejudice.

11. The Trial court further erred when it granted the order for dismissal at Sub#16A- Order granting motion to dismiss with prejudice because respondent Trustee acted ultra vires in contravention of the Trust by attempting to accept the assignment of Lucas III's Note after the Trust startup date. MERS is an unlawful beneficiary 2 and purports to assign the interest that it held to Trustee on or about January 5, 2012; six (6) years after the startup date of Trust according to Respondent Trustee's PSA that is filed in public records maintained by Securities and Exchange Commission.<sup>3</sup> Trustee's PSA dictates the specific authority availed to the Trustee and the PSA indicates that New York Law governs the Trust and therefore action of the Trustee. New York Law 4 plainly states that the ultra vires acts of the Trustee in this instant is "void" ab initio and not merely voidable. The assignment did not lawfully occur and therefore Respondent Trustee cannot show that Trustee has been injured. The New York Appellant court reversed the trial court's decision in favor of defendant Erobobo because Defendant failed to assert a defense of standing prior to appeal. Washington Courts hold a different view in that standing to assert a particular claim is a jurisdictional issue that may be raised for the first time on

- appeal.<sup>7</sup> In this matter the Plaintiff cannot show that Trustee and the Trust have endured an actual injury.
- 12. The Trial Court erred in denying, or failing to grant Bailey's Continuance denying

  Appellant's opportunity to be heard thus violating Bailey's right to due process, at

  sub#15A-Motion to Continue. Should the Court have merely dismissed Bailey's

  complaint without prejudice may have served justice better.

  Bailey has paid out over two hundred thousand dollars in order to possess and purchase
  this property. It is no fault of Bailey that the alleged Mortgage, though legally
  - questionable, is defaulted. Bailey paid regular payments to Lucas III and because of some arbitrary decision by Lucas III, the court then further strips Bailey of recourse by granting such a dismissal.
- 13. Lucas III did willfully breach the contract and failed to uphold the agreement between Bailey and Lucas III. Lucas III filed bankruptcy, case no. 13-13656-MLB, in an attempt to escape the duties, responsibilities and obligations that are, among others, established within the Real Estate Agreement between Bailey and Lucas III among. Lucas III had a duty to uphold and defend the subject property due to the contractual agreement that was entered into with Bailey and Lucas III failed to do so. Lucas III's failure to identify the various violations of Washington and Federal Laws, including Washington's Consumer Protections Act is a violation of Lucas III's duties and responsibility to maintain the agreement between Bailey and Lucas III. Respondent Lucas III actions and inactions are not only negligent but have caused and continue to cause significant harm to Bailey. See Sub#7-Plaintiff's Amended Complaint, filed on January 28, 2015

Lucas III's breach may have been due to the intentional interference of Trustee. The Trustee and its counsel was well aware of Bailey's agreement with Lucas III due to the adversarial hearing that Bailey brought in said bankruptcy. Trustee and Trustee's counsel are experts in their respective fields; that is counsel is/are expert(s) in law and Trustee is deemed an expert in its duties, obligation and rules concerning the Trust. Trustee had foreknowledge that assignments must be conducted in a specific manner and any action contravention to the PSA is void ab initio according to the plain language of New York Law that governs the Trust. Trustee is such of an empty Trust in regard to this specific matter. Therefore the Respondent Trustee has at least two strikes of violations of law against its actions; 1) The Trustee acted in ultra vires of its regulations of PSA and filed or caused to be filed false documents in public records. 2) Governing law of Trust specifically states in plain language that any act contravention to the PSA is void, and thus has unclean hands due to misrepresentations to Lucas III and it's investors alike. Trustee's PSA is filled with rules and regulations regarding things like operation, ownership, transfer of Notes of the trust and identities of those entitled to payments and therefore requires the PSA to be fully vetted in order to clear the murky waters that are created by the actions Trustee and neglectful inactions of Lucas III. Furthermore, it is established that Washington State law does not permit MERS to be a lawful beneficiary if it holds no interest in the note. Therefore it is not legally possible for Trustee to have had interest conveyed to it by the assignment from MERS. Any claim contrary to this premise has no founding in law or reason and is clearly described by the legal maxims, "Mandatarius terminos sobi positos transgredi non potest. A mandatory

cannot exceed the bounds of his authority."8 And "Nemo plus juris ad alienum transfere

potest, quam ispe habent. One cannot transfer to another a right which he has not."<sup>9</sup>. These actions by Respondent Trust violate Washington Consumer Protection Act for one because Washington's Supreme Court in Bain and the appellate court in Walker<sup>10</sup> stated clearly that MERS could not be a "lawful beneficiary" and possessed no beneficial interest to convey; yet Respondent Trustee is asserting rights that it never received. See Sub#7-Amended Complaint at points 16, 26 et seq. & 27 & Exhibit 3

- 14. The trial court erred in its findings in the order at sub#16A dated June 12, 2015 at point 4 when it stated that Appellant was not a party to Defendant's Mortgage Contract because it failed to consider Appellant's zone of interest that is established by the Real Estate Agreement (Agreement) between Lucas III and Bailey. Clause 10 of said Agreement that POSSESSION. Buyer is entitled to possession of the property from and after the date of this Contract subject to any tenancies described in paragraph 34, and, Clause 34(g) OPTIONAL PROVISION—DUE ON SALE. If Buyer, without written consent of Seller 34(g) permits a forfeiture or foreclosure or trustee or sheriffs sale of any of the Buyer's interest in the property or this Contract, Seller may at any time thereafter either raise the interest rate on the balance of the purchase price or declare the entire balance of the purchase price due to and payable. In this instance, the trial court erred in establishing Trust as a privileged and protected special class of entity that is not subject to rule of law & policy at the cost of Plaintiff's natural rights and the rights and obligations created by the Agreement between Lucas III and Bailey
- 15. Trustee's wrongful interference has caused Plaintiff's contract to be unduly terminated and canceled and thus has stripped Plaintiff of his right to and possession of subject property. See court order June 12, 2015 at sub#16A

16. The trial court erred in amending the definition of "Note Holder" contrary or other than the agreement created by Lucas III, in which Bailey has an interest, found in Lucas III's note, Exhibit 5 of Amended Complaint at sub#7 Respondent Lucas III's Note clearly defines Note Holder in its plain language and states, ""I understand that the Lender may transfer this Note. The Lender or anyone who takes this Note by transfer *and* who is entitled to receive payments under this Note is called the "Note Holder."". [Emphasis added]

Respondents have clearly attempted to use State statutes to convolute the meaning and definition of Note Holder to not include the second component of the compounded definition of Note Holder to be that of merely a holder without the right to payments. It is clear from the Respondent Trustee's PSA that the Trust is a Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduit (REMIC) or pass through trust receives a special exempt classification concerning taxes. <sup>11</sup> The PSA clearly states that the Trust itself is not entitled to payments but is afforded the status of Note Holder in spite of not fitting the definition of such. Respondent Trustee's Pooling and Servicing Agreement (PSA) provides that the "Certificateholders" are paid the principal and interest of loans, minus fees paid to servicer and trustee and therefore Certificateholders are in fact the "Note Holder" in accordance with the terms of Defendant Lucas III's note. PSA states in pertinent part;

"INVESTING IN THESE CERTIFICATES INVOLVES RISKS. YOU SHOULD NOT PURCHASE THESE CERTIFICATES UNLESS YOU FULLY UNDERSTAND THEIR RISKS AND STRUCTURE. SEE "RISK FACTORS" BEGINNING ON PAGE

S-18 OF THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT AND PAGE 1 OF THE ATTACHED PROSPECTUS.

These certificates will be beneficial interests in a trust fund, and will be backed only by the assets of the trust fund. Neither these certificates nor the assets of the trust fund will be obligations of Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, LaSalle Bank National Association, Litton Loan Servicing LP or any of their affiliates. These certificates will not be insured or guaranteed by any governmental agency or any other entity."

Page 1 of document filed at sec.gov and found in prospectus filed in public record at Securities and Exchange Commission records;

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/809940/000095012306004634/y19348e424b5.tx

17. The court erred in upholding an assignment by an "unlawful beneficiary" pursuant to Washington State law to Trust without standing by hearing and granting MERS and Trust Motion to Dismiss at sub#13 filed on May 10, 2015; and order granting Motion to Dismiss at sub#16A that was issued June12, 2015. MERS has clearly been established and involved in this matter for the intention of misrepresenting the truth and conceal the real party in interest from all pertinent parties. MERS reveals in its TERMS and CONDITIONS at point "2. The Member, at its own expense, shall promptly, or as soon as practicable, cause MERS to appear in the appropriate public records as the mortgagee of record with respect to each mortgage loan that the Member registers on the MERS® System. MERS shall serve as mortgagee of record with respect to

all such mortgage loans solely as a nominee, in an administrative capacity, for the beneficial owner or owners thereof from time to time. MERS shall have no rights whatsoever to any payments made on account of such mortgage loans, to any servicing rights related to such mortgage loans, or to any mortgaged properties securing such mortgage loans. MERS agrees not to assert any rights (other than rights specified in the Governing Documents) with respect to such mortgage loans or mortgaged properties. References herein to "mortgage(s)" and "mortgagee of record" shall include deed(s) of trust and beneficiary under a deed of trust and any other form of security instrument under applicable state law."

18. The Court erred in its denial of Bailey's Motion for Consideration and in its finding that Bailey's Motion for Reconsideration was untimely at point #2 of Order at sub#16A, issued on June 12, 2015. Bailey did file Motion for Consideration with the Court on June 25<sup>th</sup>, ten computed days after the court June 12<sup>th</sup> order. Washington Rules of Civil Procedure indicates that the time for computation will begin on the business day following the Order. The Order was issued on June 12<sup>th</sup>, a Friday, and therefore the next computation for time began on June 15<sup>th</sup> 2015 making June 25<sup>th</sup> the due date for Bailey's Motion for Reconsideration. The court administrators acknowledge receipt of the Motion for Reconsideration in email communication with the parties and Bailey did file a proof of service showing that the mailing to the Parties was made on June 25<sup>th</sup> 2015. I true a correct copy of email communication is attached.

Even, should the Motion be deemed untimely, the court is permitted discretion to accept tardy motions due to mistake, inadvertence, excusable neglect, amongst other reasons, per CR60b, in order to uphold due process as long as the rights of another are not

irreparably harmed in the process and the court erred in its discretion to deny Plaintiff's pleadings; and in this instant matter where Bailey is able to show that Trust, and MERS, have not been injured and therefore are not real parties in interest.

## **CONCLUSION**

- 22. The trial and appellate courts did violate the U.S. Constitution Article 1, sec. 10 when trial court terminated appellant Bailey's contract. The Appellate court erred when it failed to consider such violation.
- 23. Furthermore, the courts have redefined the term "note holder" as to its definition that was provided for in the Note.
- 24. The courts have permitted respondents to affect public record with deceptive practices, misconceptions and misrepresentations in order to effectively side-step the agreement between Appellant and Respondent Lucas III and steal subject Property;
- 25. With a reading in the plain language of the law it is clear that this matter is riddled with triable issues and therefore Respondents Trustee and MERS dismissal should have been denied and moved forward with discovery and then toward summary judgment for Plaintiff or trial.