## RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jan 19, 2017, 1:55 pm

## RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 93750-8 (Court of Appeals No. 73724-4-I)

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## JEFF BAILEY,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

JOSEPH LUCAS, III; U.S. BANK, N.A., AS TRUSTEE FOR OWNIT MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST, MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-3; MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS INC; AND JOHN DOE 1-50,

Defendant(s)-Respondent(s).

## **RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

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

#### **B.** Bailey and Borrower Enter into a Real Estate Contract

On January 21, 2006, the Borrower and Bailey entered into a real estate transaction ("Real Estate Contract") for the "purpose of selling and repurchasing the Property as a viable alternative to avoid foreclosure and the loss of the property." [CP 298; 298-312.]

## C. The Trust Foreclosed

On April 3, 2013, the Trust filed the Judicial Foreclosure Action in King County Superior Court under Cause. No. 13-2-15447-1 SEA due to the Borrower's default under the terms of the Loan. [CP 335-380].

On September 11, 2014, the Court entered a Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure in favor of the Trust. [CP 391.] On January 9, 2015, the King County Sheriff sold the Property through a sheriff's sale to the Trust. On February 13, 2015, the King County Superior Court entered an Order confirming the sheriff's sale of the Property.<sup>1</sup>

## D. Bailey Files a Separate Lawsuit to Challenge the Decree of Foreclosure, Respondents file a Motion to Dismiss and Bailey Fails to Timely Respond

On January 7, 2015, Bailey filed a complaint, initiating the underlying action. [CP 1; 270.] Bailey's amended complaint alleged claims entitled (1) breach of contract (against the Borrower for breaching the real estate contract), (2) "void order" (seeking to set aside the judgment in the Judicial Foreclosure Action), (3) "privity of contract," and (4) "impairing contractual relations." On May 12, 2015, Respondents filed a motion to dismiss (the "Motion to Dismiss"). Bailey did not file an opposition and did not appear at the hearing. [CP 410:13-15.] On June 10, 2015, Bailey filed a Motion to Continue the June 12, 2015 hearing. However, he did not note the hearing, and did not serve the motion with the required six days-notice or file a motion for order shortening time. [CP 20-12.] It was mailed to Respondents two days before the hearing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Jeffrey Bailey v. Joseph Lucas, III, et al., No. 13-01401-MLB (Bankr. W.D. Wash., entered July 22, 2013) [ECF No. 1].

On June 12, 2015, the Court heard Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. Respondents advised the Court of Bailey's verbal request for a continuance, that the parties had not reached an agreement, and that there were no further discussions between Respondents and Bailey. [CP 411:1-13.] The Court entered an Order Dismissing Bailey's Amended Complaint with Prejudice.

On June 29, 2015, Bailey filed an untimely Motion for Reconsideration.<sup>2</sup> [CP 26.] On July 6, 2015, Respondents opposed the Motion for Reconsideration, arguing that it was untimely, was based on conclusory statements that contradicted the terms of the Deed of Trust and Real Estate Contract, and failed on substantive grounds because the "forensic audit" Bailey submitted with his motion (1) did not constitute new evidence, (2) was not relevant or admissible evidence, and (3) was inadmissible hearsay. [CP 263-264; 264-266.] On July 8, 2015, the Court denied Bailey's Motion for Reconsideration, finding it was untimely and the forensic audit inadmissible. [CP 22-25.]

### E. Bailey's Appeal

On Appeal, Bailey challenged (1) paragraphs 7-9 of the Order granting Motion to Dismiss, (2) the failure to rule on the Motion for

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  In his Petition for Review, Bailey argues that he filed the motion for reconsideration on June 26, 2016. However, this allegation is contradicted by the docket, and, even if true, the motion would still be untimely as it was filed more than ten days after entry of the order. CR 59(b).

Continuance, and (3) the Order of Denial for Motion for Consideration. Bailey's Opening Brief made four challenges. First, Bailey challenged the dismissal of the (second) Amended Complaint. Second, Bailey challenged the trial court's "termination of the Real Estate Contract," which was actually a cancellation of the Lis Pendens.<sup>3</sup> Third, Bailey assigned error to the "failure to grant Appellant's Motion for Continuance. Last, Bailey assigned error to the trial court for "failing to exercise its discretion" in determining that the motion for reconsideration was untimely.

Respondents argued that the dismissal was proper on procedural and substantive grounds. Specifically, Respondents argued that Bailey's complaint failed to allege that Respondents breached a contract with Bailey or damaged him,<sup>4</sup> that Bailey's claim for "void order" was an impermissible collateral attack on the underlying Judicial Foreclosure Action, that Bailey lacked standing to argue "privity of contract," that the Trust had the authority to foreclose, and that Bailey's claim for interference was not supported by law. Respondents further argued that Bailey failed to note his motion to continue the hearing as required, that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Bailey challenges the cancellation of the lis pendens pursuant to RCW 4.28.320. However, Bailey waived his right to challenge those provisions when he limited his appeal to the specific findings in Paragraphs 7-9 of the Order of Dismissal. RAP 5.3. References to the lis pendens and recordation of the Real Estate Contract were contained in Paragraphs 10-12 of the Order.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> [CP 271-272].

his motion for reconsideration was untimely, and that it had no merit because it was not based on newly discovered evidence.

# F. The Court of Appeals Affirms and Bailey Files for Reconsideration, Petitions for Review

The Court of Appeals affirmed on procedural grounds. The Court noted that Bailey's briefs on appeal "violate numerous rules of appellate procedure." Further, the Court held that Bailey's "contentions lack supporting authority as required by RAP 10.3(6), and virtually all of them lack any mention or meaningful analysis of the applicable standards of review." *Bailey v. Lucas*, 195 Wn. App. 1027 (2016). The Court found that because Bailey filed no response to the motion to dismiss below, did not appear at the hearing and filed an untimely motion for reconsideration, it did not need to consider his challenges under RAP 2.5 because those challenges were raised for the first time on appeal. [*Id.*] The Court further noted that the motions made by Bailey below were not properly presented, because he failed to note his motion for a continuance as required by the local rules, did not argue it at the hearing on the motion to dismiss, and did not timely seek a ruling on his motion for reconsideration. [*Id.*]

On August 22, 2016, Bailey filed a Motion for Reconsideration. On August 25, 2016, it was denied. On September 26, 2016, Bailey filed a Petition for Review.

## IV. <u>REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED</u>

## A. The Standard of Review

Pursuant to the Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure, a

petition for review to the Washington Supreme Court is accepted only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Bailey fails to contend that any of these factors apply. As

discussed below, Bailey's Petition for Review has no merit, and also is not

supported by any of the RAP 13.4(b) factors.

## B. Bailey's Appeal Fails to Satisfy the Standards of Review

#### 1. <u>The Petition does not identify any conflict</u>

This Court will accept a petition for review if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with either a decision of this Court or a decision of any other Washington Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1-2). Bailey, however, fails to identify such a conflict. It is clear there is none. Interesting, Bailey's Petition also fails to address the Court of Appeals' decision and reasoning, other than to argue that his motion for reconsideration was timely.<sup>5</sup> However, Washington law is clear that a motion for reconsideration must be filed within 10 days and that the trial court may not extend the time period for filing a motion for reconsideration. CR 6(b)(2); *Moore v. Wentz*, 11 Wash.App. 796, 799, 525 P.2d 290 (1974). The order granting the Motion to Dismiss was entered on June 12, 2015. [CP 22]. Accordingly, Bailey was required to file the motion for reconsideration by June 23, 2015.<sup>6</sup> CR 59(b), CR 6. However, Bailey did not file his Motion for Reconsideration until June 29, 2015 and again on June 30, 2015. Accordingly, this argument is unavailing.

## 2. <u>There is No Significant Question of Law Under the</u> <u>Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States</u>

The Supreme Court will accept a petition for review if the case involves a "significant question of law" under the Washington or United States Constitution. RAP 13.4(b). The unpublished appellate decision in this case does not involve a significant constitutional issue and Bailey's constitutional challenges fail.

On appeal, Bailey argues that the trial court erred by violating the U.S. Constitution, Article 1, Section 10, when it "stripped appellant of his right to enforce and defend the contract between Appellant and [borrower]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Instead, the majority of Bailey's Petition for Review was copied and pasted from his Appellate Brief. See App. Br. The only references to the decision by the Court of Appeals span three lines in Paragraph 9 and three lines in Paragraph 22 of the Conclusion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Ten days from June 13, 2015 is June 23, 2015.

through the order granting Respondent's motion to dismiss. [Petition for Review ¶10.]<sup>7</sup> As a preliminary matter, this argument was first raised in Bailey's untimely motion for reconsideration and therefore is an improper argument on appeal. RAP 2.5. In addition, Bailey waived any challenge to the cancellation of the lis pendens when he filed his notice of appeal. Bailey limited his appeal to Paragraphs 7-9 of the Order of Dismissal.<sup>8</sup> RAP 5.3. The lis pendens and recordation of the Real Estate Contract were addressed in Paragraphs 10-12 of the Order.

Furthermore, there is no valid constitutional question of law because the Impairments Clause does not apply to judicial action. Article 1, section 10, of the Federal Constitution provides that "No state shall... pass any... Law impairing the Obligation of Contracts..." U.S. Const. art. I, § 10, cl. 1. Accordingly, by its own terms, this provision applies to legislation, not court action. It is well settled that the impairments clause is directed, as its terms indicate, against legislative action only and not judgment by the courts. *Barrows v. Jackson*, 346 U.S. 249, 260, 73 S. Ct. 1031, 1037, 97 L. Ed. 1586 (1953). *See also, Tidal Oil Co. v. Flanagan*, 263 U.S. 444, 451, 44 S. Ct. 197, 198–99, 68 L. Ed. 382 (1924).

Bailey also argues that because the Court did not grant his request for a continuance, his right to due process was violated. [App. Br. §7].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> There are no page numbers on Bailey's Petition for Review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Ntc. Appeal 1; Am. Ntc. Appeal 1, 4.

When a state seeks to deprive a person of a protected interest, procedural due process requires that an individual receive notice of the deprivation and an opportunity to be heard to guard against erroneous deprivation. Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 348, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976). The opportunity to be heard must be "at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner," appropriate to the case. Id. at 333, 96 S.Ct. 893 (quoting Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 545, 552, 85 S.Ct. 1187, 14 L.Ed.2d 62 (1965)). In this case, Bailey received notice of the Motion to Dismiss. [CP 396-397]. Bailey had several weeks to submit a written opposition to the Motion to Dismiss, but failed to do so. [CP 410-411]. Bailey knew of the hearing, but chose not to appear. [CP 20-22, 411]. Bailey has not and cannot demonstrate that he was denied due process when he was given appropriate notice, had an opportunity to respond, and failed to do so. Accordingly, there is no significant question of law under the Constitution that would support Bailey's Petition for Review.

## 3. <u>There are No Other Reasons for the Supreme Court to Accept</u> <u>Bailey's Petition for Review.</u>

There is no public policy or other reason why the Supreme Court should accept Bailey's petition for review. The Supreme Court will accept a petition for review if the petition "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b). Bailey has no genuine grievance affecting the public interest. He does not even have a legally recognizable private grievance. His complaint alleged the following causes of action: (1) breach of contract (against the Borrower), (2) "void order," (3) "privity of contract and (4) "impairing contractual relations." Each claim is based on the private contract between Bailey and the Borrower, which does not affect the public. In addition, each claim fails as a matter of law and was waived.

## a. Bailey Failed to Adequately Brief his Appeal

Bailey's petition should not be considered because he failed to adequately brief his arguments in the Court below, and is not entitled to re-brief inadequate arguments before this Court. The contentions raised in his briefing below lacked the required supporting authority under RAP 10.3(6) and lacked analysis of the applicable standards of review. *Norcon Builders, LLC v. GMP Homes VG, LLC,* 161 Wn. App. 474, 486, 254 P.3d 835 (2011) (the Court of Appeals "will not consider an inadequately briefed argument.") (quoting *Bohn v. Cody,* 119 Wn.2d 357, 368, 832 P.2d 71 (1992)); *State v. Rafav.* 168 Wn. App. 734, 843, 285 P.3d 83 (2012) (rejecting claim due to absence of meaningful argument or authority to support conclusory claim); *Marintorres,* 93 Wn. App. at 452 (holding appellate court need not consider pro se arguments that are conclusory). Bailey's Petition does not attempt to rectify this problem, nor could it.

*Deutsche Bank Nat. Trust Co. v. Slotke*, 192 Wn. App. 166, 177 (2016) (noting that even briefing an argument for the first time in a Reply, rather than a subsequent Petition for Review, is too late).

In addition, as pointed out by the Court of Appeals, because Bailey filed no response to the Motion to Dismiss below, did not appear at the hearing on the motion, and filed an untimely motion for reconsideration, his challenges on appeal have been waived under RAP 2.5. See also *New Meadows Holding Co. bv Rauqust v. Washington Water Power Co.*, 34 Wn. App. 25, 659 P.2d 1113 (1983) (because defendant did not contest summary judgment it waived any claim it may have asserted against the moving party). Taken together, these rule violations alone are fatal to Bailey's appeal. Review is simply not warranted.

### b. Bailey Failed to State a Claim

Bailey's breach of contract claim failed to set forth a single allegation against Respondents, let alone allegations that Respondents had entered into a contract with him or that Respondents breached such a contract. [CP 271-272]. The complaint identified a single contract, to which Respondents were not parties. [*Id.*].

Bailey's claim for void order, which sought to challenge the judgment in the Judicial Foreclosure Action, failed as an impermissible collateral attack. The general rule is that judgments cannot be collaterally

attacked. State v. Murdock, 18 Wn.App. 294, 296, 567 P.2d 267 (1977). While a limited exception permits collateral attack, the exception applies only when the judgment is challenged as void for lack of jurisdiction because the court does not have personal or subject matter jurisdiction, or "lacks the inherent power to enter the order involved."<sup>9</sup> That exception is not relevant here.

Specifically, the Court had personal jurisdiction because the Borrower obtained the loan in King County Washington<sup>10</sup> and the security was located in King County, Washington.<sup>11</sup> Raymond v. Robinson, 104 Wn.App. 627, 633, 15 P.3d 697 (2001). Similarly, there is no violation of the fundamental notions of fairness because the Borrower was residing in King County when the Judicial Foreclosure Action was filed. [CP 11].

Furthermore, there is no doubt that the Superior Court had subject matter jurisdiction over the Judicial Foreclosure Action. Pursuant to RCW 2.08.010, the superior court has original jurisdiction in all cases that involve the title or possession of real property. Accordingly, the King County Superior Court had jurisdiction in the Judicial Foreclosure Action and the judgment cannot be collaterally attacked. To the extent Bailey

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Mueller v. Miller, 82 Wn.App. 236, 251, 917 P.2d 604 (1996) (citations omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> [CP 317, 330, 344.] <sup>11</sup> [CP 317-330.]

wanted to challenge the judicial foreclosure, he should have filed a timely challenge in the Judicial Foreclosure Action.

Bailey's claim entitled "privity of contract" sought to challenge the foreclosure by asserting that Respondents interfered with the Real Estate Contract by redefining the terms of the note and otherwise improperly foreclosing on the property without authority of the "Certificateholders." The claim was properly dismissed because Bailey had no standing to seek protection under the mortgage contract, to which he was not a party and because there were no grounds for alleging the foreclosure had been improper. Under ordinary circumstances, a stranger to a contract may not sue. Lobak Partitions, Inc. v. Atlas Const. Co., Inc., 50 Wn.App. 493, 497, 749 P.2.d 716 (1988). Furthermore, even the borrower lacks standing to challenge a note holder's authority to enforce the note, based on the note holder's alleged noncompliance with the trust's Pooling and Servicing Agreement, where the borrower was not a party to, or an intended third party beneficiary of, that agreement. Deutsche Bank Nat. Trust Co. v. Slotke, 192 Wn. App. 166, 174, 367 P.3d 600 (2016), review denied sub nom. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co. v. Slotke, 185 Wn.2d 1037, 377 P.3d 746 (2016). In addition, Bailey's argument that the investors/certificate holders are the true parties in interest has been rejected by Washington courts. Id. at 172 (citing John Davis & Co. v. Cedar Glen No. four, Inc.,

75 Wn.2d at 222-23, 450 P.2d 166 (1969)("The holder of a negotiable instrument may sue thereon in his own name... It is not necessary for the holder to first establish that he has some beneficial interest in the proceeds.") (citation omitted.); *Jackson v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp.*, 186 Wn. App. 838, 843, 347 P.3d 487, 490 (2015), review denied sub nom. *Jackson v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp. of Washington*, 184 Wn.2d 1011, 360 P.3d 817 (2015). As a matter of clear Washington code and case law interpreting the code, the Trust was entitled to foreclose as the holder of the Note; and Bailey, who had no contractual relationship with the Respondents, lacked standing to challenge compliance with the Pooling and Servicing Agreement. [*Id.*]

Similarly, Bailey's claim for Impairing Contractual Obligations was properly dismissed. Bailey argues "it is not legally possible for Trustee to have had interest conveyed to it by the assignment from MERS...Respondent Trustee is asserting rights that it never received." [Pet. Rev. §14]. Bailey further argues that "the court erred in upholding an assignment by an "unlawful beneficiary" pursuant to Washington State law to trust without standing by hearing" and that "MERS shall serve as mortgage of record with respect... to mortgage loans... in an administrative capacity, for the beneficial owner or owners thereof from time to time." [Pet. Rev. §18.] However, the Trust was entitled to foreclose because it was the Note Holder. The Deed of Trust automatically followed the Note it secured and the assignment simply made that fact a matter of public record. The assignment was not necessary to foreclose and Bailey, who is neither a party to the assignment, nor an intended third party beneficiary thereof, lacks standing to challenge it.

# c. Bailey waived his claims by failing to oppose the Motion and failing to continue the hearing

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